IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case
	No. SC11-1865
Complainant,	
	The Florida Bar File
v.	No. 2009-50,474(17J)
HOWARD MICHAEL SCHEINBERG,	
Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

RANDOLPH BRACCIALARGHE, #236403 Attorney for Respondent

Nova Southeastern University Shepard Broad Law Center 3305 College Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33314 954-262-6169

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. COMMUNICATION BETWEEN A JUDGE AND AN ATTORNEY THAT DOES NOT INVOLVE THE MERITS OF A PENDING CASE IS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE 12
II. A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION IS AN INAPPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR FAILING TO DISCLOSE COMMUNICATIONS WITH A JUDGE THAT WERE NOT ON THE MERITS OF THE PENDING CASE BEFORE THAT JUDGE
A. Mitigation
B. Aggravation
C. Sanction
III. THE REFEREE SHOULD HAVE GRANTED THE MOTION FOR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL DUE TO THE BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY DURING THE GRIEVANCE PROCESS
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Case	S Page(s)
1.	Fla. Board of Bar Examiners: Re MBS, 955 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 2007) 21
2.	Howell v. State, 80 So. 3d. 441 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2012)
3.	Inquiry Concerning a Judge: Re Adams, 932 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2006) 18
4.	Inquiry Concerning a Judge: Re Henson, 913 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2005) 21
5.	Rodriguez v. State of Florida, 919 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 2006)
6.	Rose v. State of Florida 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992)
7.	The Florida Bar v. Canto, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996)
8.	<i>The Florida Bar v.</i> Colclough, 561 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 1990) 21
9.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Conway</i> , 996 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 2008)
10.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Frederick</i> , 756 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 2000)
11.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Machin</i> , 635 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1994)
12.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Mason</i> , 334 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1976) 18, 31
13.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</i> , 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970)
14.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Prior</i> , 330 So. 2d 607 (Fla. 1976)
15.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Porter</i> , 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996)
16.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Rubin</i> , 362 So. 2d 12, 16 (Fla. 1978)
17.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</i> , 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997)
18	The Florida Bar v. Vannier. 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986).

19.	The Florida Bar v. Whitney, 237 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1970) 20, 29
20.	The Florida Bar v. Von Zamft, 814 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2002) 15, 17, 31
Rules	
1.	R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.1(a)
2.	R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.5(b)
3.	R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d)
4.	Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 3.0 30
5.	Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 5.22 31
6.	Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 5.23
7.	Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 6.32 31
8.	Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 6.33

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "The Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Howard Michael Scheinberg, Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing and "HT" will be used to designate the transcript for the motion to dismiss. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. __ or Resp. Ex. __.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The factual background for this case arises from the prosecution of Omar Louriero, who was charged with first degree murder for the gruesome decapitation killing of Robert Lentry. RR2; TT127. The guilt phase of the trial concluded on March 27, 2007, with a guilty verdict on the first degree murder charge. RR2. A sentencing hearing began in late April 2007, through May 2, 2007, and at the conclusion of this phase of the trial, the jury, on an 11-1 vote, recommended the death penalty. RR2; TT44. A *Spencer* hearing was held on May 24, 2007 and on August 4, 2007, the trial judge, Ana Gardiner, agreed with the jury and imposed a death sentence. TT3.

A. The Respondent.

The Respondent, Howard Michael Scheinberg, at all times material to this action, was a seasoned and highly respected homicide prosecutor for the Broward County State Attorneys' Office. TT42; TT84-86. He is 51 years old and is the father of two minor children. TT56. He was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1987 and prior to the matters referenced in this Report enjoyed a stellar reputation in the legal community. TT58; TT100; TT143-133; TT175.

For almost 22 years, the bulk of his legal career, Respondent was employed by the State Attorney's Office for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. TT58-59. The homicide unit is considered the elite unit in that office as only the best, brightest

and most seasoned attorneys are in that unit. TT85. Respondent was a homicide prosecutor for 11 years. TT59.

At different times during the course of his employment with the State Attorneys' Office, Respondent supervised other state attorneys and helped educate and mentor less seasoned members of his office. TT60-61. Respondent and his several witnesses testified at the final hearing that he ethically and professionally handled multiple high profile matters. TT62; TT137-138. Respondent's numerous contributions to the education of the bar and the public included: training new Assistant State Attorneys in trial advocacy; participation as a Florida Prosecuting Attorney's Association faculty member; lecturing law students at Nova Law School on capital litigation; annually speaking to local High School Students at prom time about drinking and driving; conducting in-house training at the Broward State Attorney's Office; and training law enforcement on the national level regarding investigating boating and DUI boating fatalities. TT61-62. Respondent's pro bono volunteer work for the Florida Bar included serving six years – two threeyear terms - as a member of a Florida Bar Grievance Committee, finishing each term as Chair of the committee. TT104. The legal community's high regard for Respondent was shown when he was selected for a special assignment as a specially assigned Assistant United States Attorney on three federal murder cases. TT60.

After leaving the State Attorney's Office, Respondent was first employed at a large Broward County law firm where he developed a practice in employment and personal injury law, and he is currently self-employed in a one person law firm practicing commercial litigation, employment law, and criminal defense. TT63-64.

B. The Communication.

Other than having tried a murder trial before her six years earlier, Respondent had no relationship with Judge Gardiner before being assigned to prosecute the *Louriero* trial. Before March 23, 2007, Respondent had not talked with her on the phone and did not even have her phone number. TT64-65.

Late Friday evening, March 23, the weekend before the conclusion of the guilt phase of the *Louriero* case, Judge Gardiner telephoned the home of Judge Charles Kaplan, with whom Respondent was staying, and that was the first time Judge Gardiner and Respondent spoke on the phone. The phone conversation did not involve the *Louriero* case. TT28; TT66-67. Sometime Saturday, March 24, Judge Gardiner called and spoke to Respondent a second time, but he told her he could not talk as he was caring for his children. As with the first phone conversation, the second call did not involve the *Louriero* case. TT66-67.

The Respondent was present for these calls as he was visiting at Judge Kaplan's home. TT66. Unfortunately, Judge Kaplan passed away in early 2009 and did not participate in these proceedings. It should also be noted that prior to this evening, the Respondent did not have Judge Gardiner's cell phone number and the Judge did not have the Respondent's cell phone number either.

The guilt phase of the Louriero case concluded on March 27, 2007, and shortly thereafter there was a telephonic conversation between the Respondent and Judge Gardiner; this conversation also did not include any matter related to the *Louriero* case.

On the weekend after the guilt phase of the Louriero case, Judge Gardiner traveled to New York with some friends, and, coincidentally, Judge Kaplan also traveled to New York to visit with his family at the same time. While both judges were in New York, they had dinner together and Judge Kaplan called the Respondent and then put Judge Gardiner on the phone. TT68. There were no discussions about the *Louriero* case during this call. TT68. Several hours later that evening, Judge Kaplan called again to say that Judge Gardiner had just been informed of her father's passing and that they were trying to get her a flight to Puerto Rico to be with her family. TT68. Respondent called Judge Gardiner to offer her his condolences and did not discuss the *Louriero* case. TT68.

The foregoing is the context of the phone calls and text messages between Respondent and Judge Gardiner. The only testimony about these communications came from Respondent and he explained that the judge was a former family law attorney and single mother and that he had also lost a parent, had young children and was going through a divorce. TT66-70. Respondent's uncontroverted testimony was that the conversations covered topics related to children, how the

divorce affected children, and some pitfalls to avoid. TT69-70. They also discussed the loss of a parent and other matters that had no nexus whatsoever to the *Louriero* case. TT69-70.

The Bar in its complaint notes that there were 949 cell phone calls and 471 text messages between the Respondent and the trial judge commencing on March 23, 2007 and concluding on August 27, 2007. RR3. In both his Answer to the complaint and in his testimony, Respondent acknowledged these texts and calls and pointed out that many were of a very short duration and were nothing more than a "good morning" or a similar message. TT69-70.

While the texts and calls occurred while the *Louriero* case was still pending, the un-contradicted evidence is that none had any nexus to Mr. Louriero or the pending criminal prosecution. TT65-71. The Florida Bar presented no evidence to contest this point.

In both his Answer and in his testimony, Respondent explained that he did not disclose these communications to opposing counsel² as the conversations were not related in any way to the *Louriero* case, they did not have to be disclosed as they were not related to the case, i.e., they were not ex parte communications. Obviously in hindsight, Respondent testified that he should have revealed even

Michael Tenzer, one of the defense attorneys in the case, testified for the Bar and he confirmed that he was not aware of the communications.

these innocent communications to avoid even the appearance of impropriety, something he had assiduously tried to avoid all through his legal career. TT71-74.

The Retrial

After the criminal trial concluded and the sentence had been imposed, the required direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida was initiated. RR3. While the matter was pending before the Supreme Court, the Court relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court to consider the issue of the communications. A new judge was appointed to preside in the case. RR3. Ultimately, the Broward State Attorney's Office made the decision to retry the *Louriero* case. RR3; TT41-56.

Well before the decision to retry the *Louriero* case and prior to the communications becoming an issue in the case, Respondent retired from the Broward State Attorney's Office and went in to private practice. TT75.

During the final hearing of this matter, Respondent presented the testimony of Brian Cavanagh, a 35 year member of The Florida Bar, who was the Assistant State Attorney who took over the *Louriero* case after the Respondent went into private practice. TT43-44. Cavanagh testified at length about some of the merits of the case against Louriero, the initial proceedings and posture of the first trial and sentence, the decision to retry the case, the actions that occurred in the second trial, the results of that second trial and his impressions on the major differences in the two proceedings, inclusive of the fact that Louriero's family members testimony

was much more effective and compelling during the retrial than in the first trial when it appeared that they were afraid of their father.³ TT43-55.

The Florida Bar has contended that the sole reason for the retrial was the communication between the trial judge and the Respondent. Cavanagh explained that, while the appearance of an impropriety due to the undisclosed communications and how they would be viewed on appeal⁴ was of important, that there were other reasons for the state to agree to a retrial at that point in time, inclusive of (a) the vagaries of appellate practice in a death sentence case; (b) the availability of all witnesses (one of whom was in his 90's); and (c) the fact that at least one appellate issue related to a questionable admission⁵ that had been introduced in the first trial. TT44-51; There were professional differences of opinion in regard to the introduction of an additional aggravating circumstance that Respondent introduced, as well as an admission made by Louriero, and these were not introduced in the later trial done by Cavanagh. This circumstance was an

He also testified regarding the Respondent's stellar career, trial abilities, and impeccable reputation held by the Respondent within the Broward Courthouse community. TT51-52.

The Florida Bar introduced an excerpt of Respondent's deposition during the remand to the trial court and in such deposition the testimony included a comment that the Broward State Attorney, Michael Satz, did not believe that "the appearance of impropriety wasn't a reversible error." See TFB Ex. 2, P. 67. L19-23.

Post-trial more evidence was adduced concerning said admission that was not available at the first trial. TT46.

additional conviction for a prior crime of violence that included the shooting of an elderly woman in Nicaragua; however Cavanagh did not introduce said conviction in the second trial. TT50-51.

The final hearing in this case was held on March 8, 2012. Just prior to the commencement of the trial, the Referee considered and denied a Motion to Involuntarily Dismiss the Bar's complaint due to a breach of confidentiality during the grievance committee review of this case, a breach which resulted in "a courthouse gossip blogger" publishing information that was only known to the Bar, the Respondent, his counsel, and members of the grievance committee. The Referee denied the motion to dismiss. On April 11, 2012, the Referee entered her Report of Referee wherein she found the Respondent guilty of having violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d) entered her recommendation of a one year suspension, notwithstanding significant and compelling mitigating factors. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is well settled that a lawyer cannot engage in *ex parte* communication with a judge concerning the merits of a pending matter. In this case the Bar seeks to discipline an attorney for having personal telephonic communication with a judge wherein *none* of the communication concerned the merits of any matter pending before that judge. The Bar takes this position notwithstanding that long established precedent is that lawyers and judges may communicate with each other without the other side being present, as long as there are no discussion of the merits of a pending matter.

The Bar has asserted that because the communication at issue in this case was at least part of the reason that a homicide case was retried, there has been a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d) [conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.] Respondent, while fully understanding that the more prudent course of conduct would have been to disclose the communication with opposing counsel, verily believes that the appearance of an impropriety does not establish, by clear and convincing evidence, that there has been a violation of said rule.

The Referee and the Bar recommend to this Court that a previously undisciplined twenty-four year member of the Bar receive a one year suspension

for failing to disclose his personal communication with a trial judge. This recommendation is completely without basis in precedent, especially when one considers that in past cases, actual *ex parte* communications on the merits of a case have resulted in no more than a public reprimand. Further, the Referee failed to give any weight to the compelling mitigation evidence that was presented by four very seasoned circuit court judges, six distinguished attorneys, two homicide detectives and one of Respondent's *pro bono* clients. It was error not to consider same in reaching a fair and balanced sanction.

_

It is believed that the trial judge did not disclose these communications because she did not consider disclosure to be required under the Cannons of Judicial Conduct.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. COMMUNICATION BETWEEN A JUDGE AND AN ATTORNEY THAT DOES NOT INVOLVE THE MERITS OF A PENDING CASE IS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE.

The basic facts of this case are not in dispute. However, the conclusions that the Referee drew from these facts are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support" and must therefore be overturned. *The Florida Bar v. Canto*, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); *The Florida Bar v. Porter*, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996).

The Florida Bar carries a heavy burden in this prosecution, as it should when it seeks to discipline a lawyer for alleged acts of unethical conduct. In this case, the Bar must be able to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a lawyer who had personal communications with a trial judge during the pendency of a criminal trial should be found guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d) even where it is undisputed that those communications did not involve the facts of the case being tried. Rule 4-8.4(d) states that a lawyer shall not:

(d) engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice, including to knowingly, or through callous indifference, disparage, humiliate, or discriminate against litigants, jurors, witnesses, court personnel, or other lawyers on any basis, including, but not limited to, on account of race, ethnicity, gender, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, age, socioeconomic status, employment, or physical characteristic.

Of great importance in the resolution of the case was the nature of the communications between a lawyer and a presiding judge. The undisputed evidence in the record is that the communications were not related to the then-pending criminal trial, but instead were of a personal nature regarding the passing of a parent and divorce-related topics between two single parents, one of whom had a background in family law prior to her service as a judge. TT65-70. The Florida Bar presented no evidence whatsoever to refute this point.

It is self-evident that a lawyer can talk to a presiding judge about matters unrelated to the merits of a pending case. This Court has repeatedly held that not all conversations with trial judges, without the other side present, are improper. For example, in *Rose v. State of Florida* 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992), this Court specifically stated that:

... a judge should not engage in *any* conversation about a pending case with only one of the parties participating in that conversation. Obviously, we understand that this would not include *strictly* administrative matters not dealing in any way with the merits of the case. (emphasis in original.)

In *Rose*, the Court noted that the conversation in question appears to have been⁷ that the trial judge, in a death penalty case, had communicated with the prosecutor and had directed that lawyer to prepare an order for the judge to sign. This Court

The Court noted that they were making an assumption that this had occurred based upon the information that was available to them in the record. *Id.* At 1182-1183.

went on to discuss that this type of communication on the merits of the pending matter was improper but that procedural matters (the timing of a hearing, etc.) would not be considered improper. If communications about a pending matter that are "strictly procedural" are not prohibited, then how can the Bar (and the Referee) now claim that communications that had no nexus whatsoever to the pending matter are prohibited? Taken to its logical conclusion, the Bar's position would prohibit conversations between a judge and an attorney serving on a Bar committee, attending a Bar function, politely inquiring about health or family matters, or even discussing the results of a sport's game or the weather if the attorney had an open case in front of that judge. Neither the judiciary nor the organized Bar could function under the position advocated by The Florida Bar.⁸

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