#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR	THE	FL	OR)	[DA	BAR
-----------------	-----	----	-----	-----	-----

Complainant,

v.

HOWARD MICHAEL SCHEINBERG,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC11-1865

The Florida Bar File No. 2009-50,474 (17J)

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

Michael C. Greenberg, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1300 Concord Terrace, Suite 130 Sunrise, Florida 33323 (954) 835-0233 Florida Bar No. 487678 mgreenberg@flabar.org

Kenneth Lawrence Marvin, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 200999 kmarvin@flabar.org

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's findings of fact and of guilt are clearly supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. After considering all of the evidence in the record and assessing the testimony and credibility of all of the witnesses, the referee made proper findings and disciplined respondent accordingly. There is nothing improper or erroneous about these findings, and as such, they must be upheld.

The respondent has not met his burden to demonstrate that there is no record evidence to support the referee's findings, or that the evidence contradicts her findings of fact or conclusions of guilt. The referee properly found that the evidence was clear and convincing that respondent's willful and knowing actions in engaging in 1,420 improper communications with the presiding judge during a first degree murder trial and not disclosing these private communications to anyone both contributed to and resulted in prejudice to the administration of justice.

Additionally, a one-year suspension is the appropriate sanction for the serious misconduct of an experienced prosecutor who engaged in 1,420 ex parte and private conversations with a presiding trial judge in a first degree murder case over a five month period, and failed to disclose the same to anyone.

Finally, the referee did not err in denying respondent's Amended Motion to Dismiss when the alleged breach of confidentiality could not be ascribed to the Bar and respondent failed to demonstrate any prejudice from any alleged breach.

#### **ARGUMENT**

On review, the burden is on the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of the referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.7(c)(5). A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882 So. 2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 2000). This Court's scope of review of a referee's recommended sanction is broader than that afforded to findings of fact because this Court has the ultimate authority to determine the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Carlon, 820 So. 2d 891, 899 (Fla. 2002). However, generally speaking, the Court will not second-guess the referee's recommended discipline as long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. See, The Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So. 2d 555, 558 (Fla.1999). The Bar submits that the factual findings and disciplinary recommendation of the referee should be approved.

#### **ISSUE I**

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND **SHOULD THEREFORE** BE UPHELD. EX **PARTE** COMMUNICATIONS WHICH INCLUDE 1,420 PRIVATE COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN A JUDGE PRESIDING OVER A FIRST DEGREE MURDER TRIAL AND THE PROSECUTOR IN THE CASE ARE CLEARLY INAPPROPRIATE AND PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE, OF REGARDLESS OF THE **NATURE** THOSE COMMUNICATIONS.

In considering respondent's argument and evaluating the referee's findings of fact, the Court will recall the principles articulated in *The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld*, 748 So. 2d 936, 940 (Fla. 1999):

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. *Florida Bar v. Beach*, 699 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1997). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. *Florida Bar v. Bustamante*, 662 So. 2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1995). The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. *Florida Bar v. Miele*, 605 So. 2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992).

Accordingly, it is respondent's burden to prove that there is no record evidence to support the referee's findings, or that such evidence contradicts her conclusions. He has met neither burden in his Initial Brief. To the contrary, the record is replete with evidence to support both the referee's findings that respondent is guilty and that a one year suspension is the appropriate sanction. Respondent's Initial Brief essentially raises factual arguments that were previously made at the final hearing and rejected by the referee. Respondent was found guilty of violating Rules Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(d). The evidence clearly established this rule violation.

The referee specifically found that respondent's extensive and private ex parte communications (1,420) with the presiding judge during a first degree murder trial prejudiced the administration of justice:

Conduct that prejudices our system as a whole is encompassed by Rule 4-8.4(d) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. *The Florida Bar v. Frederick*, 756 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 2000). The prosecutor, Mr. Scheinberg, in a murder case had private communications (1,420) with the presiding judge and told no one. Said conduct was not fair to the defendant. Said conduct was not fair to the defendant's counsel, whose goal it was to protect the rights of his client. Said conduct was not fair to the integrity of the process, when proceedings were required which led to a new trial. Based upon all of the evidence presented to me during the final hearing, I find the Respondent guilty of having violated Rule 4-8.4(d) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The undisclosed communications between the judge and Respondent prejudiced the system. The

communication should have been revealed to opposing counsel and failing to make such a disclosure was also prejudicial to the administration of justice.

(RR: 4).

Respondent claims that a communication between a judge and an attorney that does not involve the merits of a pending case can never be prejudicial to the administration of justice. (IB: 12). Respondent errs in this claim since as the referee noted above and other courts have found, an ex parte communication not dealing with the merits of the case is nonetheless prejudicial since it creates an appearance of impropriety.

In *Pearson v. Pearson*, 870 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), the court citing to The Code of Judicial Conduct noted the following:

The Code of Judicial Conduct in Canon 3(B)(7) states that: [A] judge shall accord to every person who has a legal interest in a proceeding, or that person's lawyer, the right to be heard according to law. A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties concerning a pending or impending proceeding." "Nothing is more dangerous and destructive of the impartiality of the judiciary than a one-sided communication between a judge and a single litigant.

#### Pearson at 249.

Ex parte communications are fraught with peril because of their ability to subtly influence judges and thereby destroy the impartiality of the judiciary and create an

inference of unfairness. In *Rose v. State*, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992), this Court noted the following:

Nothing is more dangerous and destructive of the impartiality of the judiciary than a one-sided communication between a judge and a single litigant. Even the most vigilant and conscientious of judges may be subtly influenced by such contacts.

#### Rose at 1183.

Although this Court in *Rose* noted that ex parte communications dealing with strictly administrative matters not dealing with the merits of the case were the exception to the rule, the Court did not say all matters not on the merits were okay, but only those *administrative matters* [emphasis added] that did not deal with the merits:

Obviously, we understand that this would not include strictly administrative matters not dealing in any way with the merits of the case.

Id.

However, in the instant matter, respondent does not claim that the matters discussed were regarding administrative matters. Nor does respondent claim that the ex parte communications were simply an infrequent "Good morning, Judge" as might occur as an attorney walks by a judge in a hallway. Nor does respondent claim that these 1,420 ex parte communications were communications made in a public forum or social event where others could attest that the communications were regarding non case

related matters. Instead, the record demonstrated that the 1,420 ex parte communications were non-administrative, frequent and private.

In *Rose*, this Court noted the evils of ex parte communications, namely they create an appearance of impropriety and call into question the impartiality of the judiciary and the ability to receive a fair trial:

The most insidious result of ex parte communications is their effect on the appearance of the impartiality of the tribunal. The impartiality of the trial judge must be beyond question. In the words of Chief Justice Terrell:

This Court is committed to the doctrine that every litigant is entitled to nothing less than the cold neutrality of an impartial judge.... The exercise of any other policy tends to discredit the judiciary and shadow the administration of justice.

... The attitude of the judge and the atmosphere of the court room should indeed be such that no matter what charge is lodged against a litigant or what cause he is called on to litigate, he can approach the bar with every assurance that he is in a forum where the judicial ermine is everything that it typifies, purity and justice. The guaranty of a fair and impartial trial can mean nothing less than this.

Id.

Engaging in over 1,400 ex parte communications with the trial judge during the case was sufficient evidence that respondent prejudiced the administration of justice by calling into question the impartiality of the judge. In *Deren v. Williams*, 521 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1988), the court noted that a manifestation of friendship between a

judge and an attorney along with ex parte communications called into question the fairness and impartiality of the trial judge:

... the manifestation of a close friendship with opposing counsel, coupled with ex parte communications during trial, would reasonably cause a litigant to be apprehensive of the fairness of the trial judge.

Deren at 152. See also Robbins v. Robbins, 742 So. 2d 395, 396 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (where litigant has been seen socializing with the trial judge on numerous occasions; and that litigant's former counsel had an ex parte communication with the judge about the case).

There is no requirement that communications have to be regarding the merits of the matter to establish prejudice to the administration of justice. As the court noted above in *Deren*, the fear of a lack of impartiality was established based upon the friendship between the judge and attorney coupled with ex parte communications. Similarly in the instant matter, prejudice was established by the excessive number of continuous communications demonstrating an ongoing relationship and the ex parte nature of the communications. Therefore, in the instant case, the referee did not err in finding respondent guilty.

Next, respondent claims in his Initial Brief that the referee erred in finding him guilty of prejudicing the administration of justice because his actions did not *cause* the

state's decision to retry the case, but only *contributed* to it. (Initial Brief at 15). Respondent errs in this claim.

The record testimony contradicts respondent's claim. Mr. Cavanaugh, the second prosecutor on the case, testified that but for respondent's improper communications, the state would not have had to retry the case:

Q: Would you agree with me that but for the contact between Judge Gardiner and Mr. Scheinberg, there would have been no need for a new trial?

A: Unfortunately, yes.

(T: 54).

## **ISSUE II**

II. A ONE-YEAR SUSPENSION IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR THE SERIOUS MISCONDUCT OF AN EXPERIENCED PROSECUTOR WHO ENGAGES IN 1,420 EX PARTE PRIVATE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PRESIDING JUDGE IN A MURDER TRIAL AND FAILS TO DISCLOSE THOSE COMMUNICATIONS TO ANYONE RESULTING IN THE CASE HAVING TO BE RETRIED

While a referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record, this Court's scope of review is broader when it reviews a referee's recommendation for discipline because this Court has the ultimate responsibility of determining the appropriate sanction. *The Florida Bar v. Rue*, 643

So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); *The Florida Bar v. Grief*, 701 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1997). In *The Florida Bar v. Pahules*, 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this Court held three purposes must be held in mind when deciding the appropriate sanction for an attorney's misconduct: 1) the judgment must be fair to society; 2) the judgment must be fair to the attorney; and 3) the judgment must be severe enough to deter others attorneys from similar conduct. This Court has further stated a referee's recommended discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or the standards for imposing lawyer sanctions. *The Florida Bar v. Sweeney*, 730 So. 2d 1269 (Fla. 1998); *The Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). In the instant case, the referee found support for her suspension recommendation in existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

In reviewing a referee's recommendations for discipline, this Court's scope of review is broader than afforded to findings of facts because it is this Court's responsibility to order the appropriate punishment. *The Fla. Bar v. Anderson*, 538 So. 2d 852, 854 (Fla.1989).

However, a referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. *The Fla. Bar v. Lipman*, 497 So. 2d 1165, 1168 (Fla.1968).

The one-year suspension given by the referee was based upon competent substantial evidence. First, the referee noted that Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 5.22, 6.32 and 7.2 all requiring suspension were applicable. The referee did not err in this finding since the standards clearly support a suspension. Standard 5.22 applies when a lawyer in an official or governmental position knowingly fails to follow proper procedures or rules, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or the integrity of the legal process. In the instant case, respondent, a lawyer who had been practicing law for over 20 years, knew that an attorney should not engage in ex parte communications with a judge while appearing before the judge in an ongoing matter. Although respondent claims that he did not believe he was violating the rules because the communications were not regarding the merits of the matter, such an explanation is unreasonable given his twenty-two years as a career homicide prosecutor and the testimony of his numerous character witnesses that testified that respondent was very smart. In fact, respondent was clearly aware of the rules regarding ex parte communications and the appearance of impropriety. One character witness, Judge Horowitz, even related the anecdote that respondent would not even get on the same elevator with him when respondent had cases in front of him. (T: 134). Thus, it would not be unreasonable to conclude that respondent knew his conduct was improper but chose to engage in the improper communications anyway. His conduct clearly

impacted the integrity of the legal process. In fact, the referee stated "The undisclosed communication between the judge and Respondent prejudiced the system." (RR: 4). Therefore, the referee did not err when she found this standard requiring suspension applicable.

Standard 6.32, requiring suspension is likewise applicable in that respondent engaged in communications with the presiding judge when he knew this communication was improper. His 1,420 ex parte and private communications caused harm to the legal proceedings. Judge Cunningham found that:

...the State incurred the expense of hiring Attorney Bruce Rogow to investigate and recommend whether a new trial should be granted and, in fact, the State so agreed. Brian Cavanaugh, the successor state attorney and one of Mr. Scheinberg's witnesses, when asked by Bar Counsel on cross-examination "would you agree with me that but for the contact and lack of disclosure, a new trial would not have taken place"? Mr. Cavanaugh responded, "Unfortunately yes". The system was further impacted when a new trial was held. (RR: 7)

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